## ESTABLISHING IMMUNOLOGICAL TOLERANCE THROUGH THE INDUCTION OF MOLECULAR CHIMERISM

### Jessamyn Bagley, Jennifer L. Bracy, Chaouri Tian, Eun-Suk Kang, and John Iacomini

Transplantation Biology Research Center, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, 149-5210 13th St., Boston, MA 02129 USA

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Modification of host immune system: building on the concept of mixed hematopoietic chimerism
- 4. Induction of molecular chimerism by gene therapy
- 5. Testing the feasibility of using molecular chimerism to induce tolerance
- 6. Mechanisms leading to hyporesponsiveness induced by gene therapy
- 7. Moving molecular chimerism from hyporesponsiveness to tolerance
- 8. Induction of B cell tolerance through molecular chimerism
- 9. Moving molecular chimerism to preclinical non-human primate models
- 10. Conclusions
- 11. Acknowledgments
- 12. References

### 1. ABSTRACT

One of the major goals of transplantation biology is to overcome transplant rejection without the need for life-long immunosuppression. Over the last several years, fundamental advances in our understanding of the immune response to allogeneic and xenogeneic antigens have stimulated a great deal of interest in the possibility of using gene therapy approaches to overcome the host response leading to transplant rejection while alleviating the need for non-specific immunosuppression. Here, we review recent progress in the field on the use of gene therapy to induce transplantation tolerance to donor organs and tissues.

### 2. INTRODUCTION

Since 1988 the total number of organ transplants performed world-wide has greatly increased, primarily due to the development of powerful non-specific immunosuppressive agents, such as cyclosporine A, rapamycin and FK506, that have allowed for one year graft survival rates as high as 94% in living-related kidney transplants. The increased success of transplantation has opened up the possibility that a wider variety of disorders may be effectively treated using organ or tissue transplants. Indeed, transplantation is regarded as a modern medical success story, which has in turn led to an increased demand for transplantable human organs. This increase in demand has exacerbated shortages of suitable organs. As of March, 2002, the United Network for Organ Sharing

(http://www.unos.org) reported that in the United States alone, while over 79,000 patients were on the national waiting list for organ transplants, only 22,000 transplants were performed in 2000, using organs recovered from approximately 11,000 donors.

The use of powerful immunosuppressive drugs, which patients must take for the rest of their lives to prevent organ rejection, is not without adverse consequences. These drugs predispose patients to an increased susceptibility infectious disease, to lymphoproliferative disorders and cancer, and can also cause diabetes, as well as liver, kidney and neurological toxicity (1-3). Although current immunosuppressive regimens are effective at preventing acute rejection episodes in the first few years after transplantation, they are less effective at preventing chronic rejection, which is currently the major factor limiting long-term survival of transplants (4,5).

Because of problems associated with long-term immunosuppression, the induction of immunological tolerance to transplantation antigens has become a major goal in the field because of its promise to allow replacement of host organs without the need for immunosuppression. The development of strategies to induce specific tolerance to allogeneic organs may also make it possible to attain acceptable graft survival rates using partially- or fully-

mismatched organs, or perhaps even xenogeneic organs, for life-saving transplants. Thus, the development of therapies that would result in specific tolerance to transplanted organs would be of great clinical benefit. The strategies used in order to induce specific tolerance to organ grafts fall into two categories: modification of the donor organ, or modification of the host immune response. In this review we shall focus on recent advances in the field designed to allow for modification of the host immune response resulting in tolerance using gene therapy to induce molecular chimerism.

# 3. MODIFICATION OF HOST IMMUNE SYSTEM: BUILDING ON THE CONCEPT OF MIXED HEMATOPOIETIC CHIMERISM

It has been known for many years that a state of donor-host hematopoietic chimerism leads to immunological tolerance to major and minor donor transplantation antigens (6,7). The intentional creation of mixed allogeneic bone marrow chimerism as a strategy to induce tolerance to donor transplantation antigens was first demonstrated by Ildstad and Sachs (8). This approach involves the use of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation to establish host-donor mixed hematopoietic chimerism in conditioned recipients prior to donor organ transplantation (reviewed in (9)). The development of donor-type bone marrow-derived cells leads to negative selection of donorreactive lymphocytes, essentially establishing donor as part of "self". The establishment of mixed chimerism through bone marrow transplantation in adult animals leads to specific tolerance, permitting transplantation of donor-type organs without any additional immunosuppression, in an otherwise fully immunocompetent host (8,10-13). The effectiveness of this approach has been demonstrated in non-human primates (14), and it has been shown that mixed chimerism can be achieved in humans receiving non-myeloablative conditioning prior to bone marrow transplantation (15). Furthermore, mixed chimerism can be used to induce tolerance to concordant xenografts in rodent models (16).

While it has been known for some time that inducing mixed chimerism by bone marrow transplantation can be used to induce tolerance, bone marrow transplantation across major histocompatibility (MHC) barriers is risky for a variety of reasons, including the severity of the preparative regimen required to establish donor bone marrow engraftment, the potential for inducing severe graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), and engraftment failure. The risk associated with bone marrow transplantation has therefore limited the use of mixed chimerism in the clinical transplantation setting. However, if one could overcome the risk of GVHD and the use of toxic host conditioning to achieve engraftment of donortype cells, the use of mixed chimerism to induce tolerance to foreign organs could become the method of choice to allow for permanent allo or even xenograft acceptance without immunosuppression.

## 4. INDUCTION OF MOLECULAR CHIMERISM BY GENE THERAPY

Mixed chimerism induced by bone marrow transplantation demonstrates that expression of allo or

xenogeneic antigens on bone marrow-derived cells is sufficient to induce tolerance. Thus, genetic engineering of hematopoietic stem cells to allow expression of allogeneic antigens on bone marrow-derived cells may be an attractive alternative to mixed bone marrow chimerism. Such an approach could potentially accomplish the goal of inducing functional tolerance by transferring allo or even xenogeneic genes rather than immunocompetent cells into the host, effectively establishing molecular rather than cellular chimerism. A gene therapy-based approach designed to achieve molecular chimerism may theoretically carry with it a lower level of risk than allogeneic bone marrow transplantation, because the modified bone marrow would be autologous. The use of genes rather than cells eliminates the possibility of GVHD and the need to deplete T cells from the bone marrow, which may result in improved engraftment. In the case of xenotransplants, because it has proved difficult to achieve engraftment of bone marrow across species barriers, modification of autologous cells with genes encoding xenogeneic antigens may make it possible to induce tolerance in cases where bone marrow transplants are ineffectual.

# 5. TESTING THE FEASIBILITY OF USING MOLECULAR CHIMERISM TO INDUCE TOLERANCE

To explore the feasibility of using genetic engineering to induce transplantation tolerance, a murine model that utilizes retroviral-mediated gene transfer of allogeneic MHC genes into host bone marrow was developed (17-19). This model uses two congenic strains of mice B10.AKM  $(H-2K^k, I^k, D^q)$  and B10.MBR  $(H-2K^k, I^k, D^q)$  $2K^b, I^k, D^q$ ). The B10.MBR strain was derived from a recombination event that occurred during the back-crossing of B10.AKM to C57BL/10, and differs from the B10.AKM strain in only the MHC class I H-2K region (20). Because of this MHC class I disparity, B10.AKM CD8 and CD4 T cells are able to mediate rejection of B10.MBR skin grafts through the so-called direct and indirect pathways of antigen presentation (21-24). It was hypothesized that introduction of the  $H-2K^b$  (K<sup>b</sup>) gene into B10.AKM bone marrow by retroviral-mediated transduction should theoretically give rise to a mouse that expresses all cell surface MHC antigens of the B10.MBR strain on its bone marrow-derived hematopoietic cells, a molecular chimera. If expression of the transduced K<sup>b</sup> gene in bone-marrow derived cells is sufficient to induce transplantation tolerance, through central or peripheral mechanisms, one would predict that mice receiving the K<sup>b</sup> gene should become tolerant to the K<sup>b</sup> alloantigen exactly as is seen in cellular bone marrow chimeras, and be able to accept K<sup>b</sup>-disparate skin grafts from B10.MBR mice.

To test this hypothesis, bone marrow cells from B10.AKM mice were infected with retroviruses carrying the gene encoding  $K^b$  or the neomycin resistance gene (Neo<sup>r</sup>) as a control. Infected bone marrow was then used to reconstitute B10.AKM mice that had been conditioned using lethal irradiation. B10.AKM mice reconstituted with  $K^b$ -transduced bone marrow showed significantly prolonged survival of  $K^b$ -disparate skin grafts from

B10.MBR mice, but were able to promptly reject third party skin grafts from B10.BR mice  $(H-2K^k,I^k,D^k)$ . In contrast, B10.AKM mice reconstituted with Neortransduced bone marrow rejected both B10.MBR and B10.BR grafts in a similar time-frame (17-19). Prolongation of allogeneic skin graft survival is considered to be the ultimate test of tolerance in rodents (25,26), therefore the prolonged survival of  $K^b$ -expressing B10.MBR skin grafts in this model is powerful evidence that alloreactive CD4 and CD8 T cells have been rendered hyporesponsive.

The ability of molecular chimerism to induce T cell hyporesponsiveness has now been observed by several groups. The basic finding that expression of the K<sup>b</sup> gene in bone marrow-derived cells can induce hyporesponsiveness was extended by demonstrating acceptance of Kbexpressing cardiac allografts after infusion of geneticallymodified tumor cells expressing an allogeneic MHC class I antigen (27). However, in studies using cardiac transplantation as a model system, it is important to point out that while administration of genetically-modified tumor cells was necessary to induce tolerance, it was probably not sufficient, because the heart transplants themselves probably contributed to establishing graft acceptance, consistent with studies showing that the presence of the cardiac allografts participates in maintenance of tolerance in these models (28). Others have reported that a retroviral gene therapy approach similar to those outlined above can be used to suppress antigen-specific immune responses in mice to an HLA class I antigen (29). However, in this study it was unclear whether the suppression achieved would allow acceptance of allografts expressing HLA class I gene products. Adenovirus-mediated transfer of a single MHC class I gene to bone marrow cells has been shown to induce a similar hyporesponsiveness to fully-allogeneic cardiac grafts, suggesting that induction of hyporesponsiveness to one MHC class I antigen may induce infectious tolerance to other MHC class I and class II alloantigens, although it is not clear whether these observations can be extended to the more rigorous prolongation of skin graft survival (30,31).

Molecular chimerism has also been used in large animal studies. Hyporesponsiveness to an MHC class IImismatched kidney graft has been induced in pigs, although it is not clear to what extent the transplanted organ itself contributed to establishing allograft acceptance, as mentioned above (32,33). The induction of hyporesponsiveness to marker genes expressed in bone marrow derived cells has also been achieved in rhesus macaques (34). Some have also suggested that gene therapy approaches may induce hyporesponsiveness across to xenogeneic antigens in baboons (35). Retroviralmediated gene transfer has also been used to tolerize pathogenic autoimmune T cells in a mouse model of diabetes (36). Similarly, the introduction of auto-antigens linked to an immunoglobulin region on the surface of relatively tolerogenic unactivated B cells has been suggested to induce tolerance in a number of autoimmune models (reviewed in (37)). Thus, the induction of molecular chimerism has been shown to be effective at the induction of hyporesponsiveness in multiple animal models, and using multiple therapeutic genes, and may have indications in the induction of tolerance in autoimmunity.

## 6. MECHANISMS LEADING TO HYPORESPONSIVENESS INDUCED BY GENE THERAPY

The studies described above clearly demonstrated in several model systems that molecular chimerism can be used to induced hyporesponsiveness to antigens expressed in bone marrow derived cells. However, not one of the studies was able to conclusively demonstrate stable long-term tolerance. For example, although prolongation of  $K^b$ -expressing B10.MBR skin grafts on mice reconstituted with  $K^b$ -transduced bone marrow was significant and reproducible, all  $K^b$ -disparate grafts were eventually rejected. Thus, in contrast to mixed cellular chimerism, gene therapy resulted in hyporesponsiveness to  $K^b$ , rather than true tolerance.

Upon further investigation, it became clear that K<sup>b</sup>-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes did not appear to be deleted, but rather a deficit in T cell help induced following expression of K<sup>b</sup> in bone marrow-derived cells led to prolonged survival of skin grafts. The presence of additional allogeneic MHC class I or II determinants expressed on skin together with K<sup>b</sup> restored rapid rejection Furthermore, alloreactive cytotoxic T cells specific for K<sup>b</sup> could be detected in vitro when IL-2 was added to the cultures, supporting the hypothesis that a deficit in T cell help was induced rather that true tolerance (19). Detailed analysis of mutant K<sup>b</sup> genes designed to encode MHC class I molecules that can enter the indirect pathway of antigen presentation through distinct cellular pathways showed that both CD4 and CD8 T cells which respond to K<sup>b</sup> through the indirect pathway were capable of mediating graft rejection. In order to prevent rejection of K<sup>b</sup>-disparate grafts, CD8 T cells that recognize K<sup>b</sup> via the direct pathway, as well as CD4 and CD8 T cells that recognize K<sup>b</sup> through the indirect pathways of antigen presentation, had to be tolerized in order to achieve prolonged skin graft survival (38). Interestingly, it appeared that CD4 T cells capable of recognizing K<sup>b</sup> through the indirect pathway were most affected in this system, supporting the notion that prolongation of skin graft survival induced by gene therapy involved a peripheral mechanism controlled at the level of T cell help.

### 7. MOVING MOLECULAR CHIMERISM FROM HYPORESPONSIVENESS TO TOLERANCE

We speculated that the failure to induce stable long-term tolerance to alloantigens after antigen challenge by gene engineering of bone marrow could have been due to a failure to efficiently express the retrovirally-encoded alloantigen on cell types capable of inducing deletional tolerance, loss of gene expression, or to an extremely low level of initial expression. It was previously suggested that multi-lineage long-term chimerism is required to maintain stable tolerance induced by allogeneic bone marrow transplantation (39). We therefore hypothesized that to

achieve stable T cell tolerance, rather than hyporesponsiveness, by gene therapy, it would be necessary to achieve long-term expression of the retrovirally-transduced alloantigen on multiple hematopoietic cell lineages at relatively high levels. Indeed, it is clear that in the models described above in which gene therapy resulted in hyporesponsiveness, expression levels achieved were low, in many cases detectable only using PCR-based methods, and long-term expression was not demonstrated.

То establish tolerance rather than hyporesponsiveness, we set out to improve expression of K<sup>b</sup> and achieve long-term expression. Improvements in vector construction and bone marrow transduction conditions allowed us to significantly improve transduction efficiency and achieve multi-lineage long-term expression of K<sup>b</sup> on approximately 20% of bone marrow-derived cells readily detectable by cell surface staining and flow cytometry (40). Efficient expression of K<sup>b</sup> on bone marrow-derived cells was sufficient to allow for permanent survival of K<sup>b</sup> disparate B10.MBR skin grafts on 40% of B10.AKM mice reconstituted with K<sup>b</sup>-transduced bone marrow; in all cases, third party control grafts were rapidly rejected. Importantly, in all mice, cytotoxic T cells capable of lysing K<sup>b</sup>-expressing targets were undetectable in vitro even after in vivo sensitization by skin grafting, and subsequent reexposure to antigen by immunization followed by restimulation in vitro in the presence of IL-2. This result was in sharp contrast to previous studies in which T cell hyporesponsiveness to K<sup>b</sup> induced by genetic engineering of bone marrow could be broken by provision of T cell help (18,19). We suggest that improved expression of K<sup>b</sup> on the surface of bone marrow-derived cells induced stable T cell tolerance, rather than hyporesponsiveness. Indeed, recent data we have acquired suggest that expression levels of K<sup>b</sup> directly affect the ability to achieve tolerance versus hyporesponsiveness, and that central deletional mechanisms, rather than an effect on T cell help, lead to tolerance when efficient long-term expression of K<sup>b</sup> is achieved (In preparation). These data strongly suggest that gene therapy can be used to reshape the T cell repertoire. leading to negative selection of alloreactive T cells in the thymus.

## 7. INDUCTION OF B CELL TOLERANCE THROUGH MOLECULAR CHIMERISM

In addition to inducing T cell tolerance, molecular chimerism could also be used to induce B cell tolerance. The ability to induce B cell tolerance may be particularly desirable in the case of discordant xenotransplantation. Shortages of human organs for transplantation have led to research into the possibility of using non-human species as organ donors. Pigs are now regarded as the most likely species to serve as donors for clinical xenotransplantation (41,42). However, rejection of pig tissues and organs, mediated by antibodies in the host that recognize a single carbohydrate antigen present on pig tissue, Galalpha1-3Galß1-4GlcNAc-R, hereafter referred to as alphaGal (43, 44-48) remain a significant barrier to successful pig-to-primate xenotransplantation (reviewed in (49)).

Mutant mice, generated by gene targeting in embryonic cells, which stem lack alpha(1,3)galactosyltransferase (alphaGT) that synthesizes alphaGal, produce alphaGal reactive natural antibodies as do humans, without the need for immunization (50,51). These mice have therefore been used as a model to examine methods that will prevent production of alphaGal-reactive natural antibodies. While mixed chimerism induced by bone marrow transplantation has been shown to induce tolerance to the alphaGal epitope in alphaGT homozygous knockout mice (GT<sup>0</sup> mice) (52), as mentioned above, it seems unlikely that a mixed cellular chimerism approach will be useful in the setting of xenotransplantation because of the difficulty in establishing porcine bone marrow engraftment and long-term lymphohematopoeisis in primates (53,54). Using GT<sup>0</sup> mice, we therefore examined whether expression of alphaGT in bone marrow-derived cells could be used to induce tolerance to alphaGal, preventing the production of alphaGal-reactive natural antibodies as well as antibodies with the same specificity produced following rigorous antigen challenge. We demonstrated that expression of alphaGT in bone marrowderived cells was able to completely inhibit production of alphaGal-reactive natural antibodies (55), and resulted in stable long-term tolerance to alphaGal even after rigorous antigen challenge (56). Importantly, tolerance remained intact even after mice received cardiac transplants from wild-type mice that expressed alphaGal, and prevented antibody-mediated rejection (57). Analysis of B cells from mice reconstituted with alphaGT-transduced bone marrow revealed that B cells which produce alphaGal-reactive antibodies were eliminated from the immunological repertoire following gene therapy. Collectively, these data suggest that gene therapy approaches may be used to induce B cell tolerance. Importantly, tolerance could be induced even in presensitized animals (Submitted). Therefore, gene therapy can be used to reshape the B cell repertoire.

To our knowledge, this is the first example in which gene therapy has been successfully applied to induce stable B cell tolerance to pre-existing natural antibodies without any additional immunosuppression. While others have shown that gene therapy can be used to induce B cell hyporesponsiveness (29,58,59), these studies failed to demonstrate tolerance. While we are not certain why in other models hyporesponsiveness rather than tolerance was achieved, we would suggest that the level of transduction and expression as well as the duration of expression could play a role. In our model, achieving efficient bone marrow transduction and long-term expression on bone marrowderived cells was required in order to induce tolerance (56). Schumacher et al. reported very low transduction efficiencies (29). In their study it was not possible to determine if full B cell tolerance was achieved because only production of complement-fixing antibodies was examined at relatively early time points after reconstitution with genetically-modified cells. It is also possible that differences in the cell types expressing the retrovirallytransduced genes could have played a role. Bone marrow transduction conditions used by Kang et al. (59) included the growth factor IL-7, which is known to favor survival

and proliferation of B cell lineages. Interestingly, it has been reported that B cells can only tolerize virgin T cells (60). Since the antibody response studied by Kang *et al.* is clearly T cell-dependent, it is possible that because sublethally-irradiated mice were used as recipients of genetically-modified cells, memory T cells were not effectively tolerized, resulting in hyporesponsiveness.

## 9. MOVING MOLECULAR CHIMERISM TO PRECLINICAL NON-HUMAN PRIMATE MODELS

Using molecular chimerism to induce tolerance in preclinical non-human primate models represents the next logical step in determining whether any of the approaches outlined above will have potential for clinical application. Preliminary results obtained so far using gene-marking studies suggest that the induction of molecular chimerism may indeed be able to induce tolerance in primates (34). However, it is important to extend these findings to the transplantation setting in which the immune response to either allo or xenogeneic tissues is relatively potent and pre-existing.

Several issues must be considered when choosing an appropriate non-human primate model to examine the ability of gene therapy to induce tolerance. While most investigators would like to use a species that is most similar to humans, for ethical and practical reasons we are left with rhesus macaques, cynomologus monkeys and baboons as viable models. In xenotransplantation, most investigators regard the baboon as most similar to humans in terms of alphaGal antibody levels. However, of the three species mentioned, it appears that baboon CD34+ cells are the most difficult to infect with retroviruses utilizing various viral envelopes (our unpublished data and (61)). While a full evaluation of the ability of different envelopes to allow efficient transduction of various CD34+ cells from different species awaits, issues of infectability of different species with various viruses will influence which primate model is most appropriate. Clearly, in order to initiate proof of principle experiments in non-human primates several factors must be considered. We suggest that species should be selected for experimentation that allow for efficient isolation and infection of hematopoietic progenitors, have the ability to withstand bone marrow transplants, and have a relatively low level of pre-existing immunity to the product of transduced genes of interest. These species should be used first, and fully studied in order to further to optimize protocols and procedures. Only after it can be clearly demonstrated in primates that molecular chimerism can be used consistently to induce tolerance should one consider moving into a primate model that is a closer representative of humans or into the clinic.

### 10. CONCLUSIONS

Provided that appropriate levels of gene expression can be achieved on bone marrow-derived cells, the induction of molecular chimerism is capable of inducing immunological tolerance. Importantly, molecular chimerism can result in the same life-long, specific tolerance observed using mixed chimerism. However,

several obstacles to clinical application remain. For example, it is important to determine if gene therapy can be effective in inducing tolerance using non-toxic host conditioning regimens. It will also be important to examine how far this technology can be extended. Can one use gene therapy to induce tolerance to multiple antigens, essentially resulting in matching of host and donor? It will also be important to follow gene therapy-treated animals long-term to examine whether chronic rejection can be prevented by gene therapy. Lastly, it will be important to investigate whether similar approaches can be used to treat other disorders, such as autoimmunity.

### 11. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Drs. David H. Sachs and David K. C. Cooper for critical review of the manuscript, members of the Iacomini Laboratory for helpful suggestions and comments, and Ms. Jessica Lynch for expert secretarial assistance. This work was supported by NIH grants RO1 AI44268 and RO1 AI43619 to JI. Jennifer L. Bracy and Jessamyn Bagley are supported in part by NIH Training grant T32 AI07529. Jessamyn Bagley is also supported in part from a grant from the Children's A-T Project.

### 12. REFERENCES

- 1. Dumont F. J.: FK506, an immunosuppressant targeting calcineurin function. *Current Medicinal Chemistry* 7, 731-748 (2000)
- 2. Hojo M., T. Morimoto, M. Maluccio, T. Asano, K. Morimoto, M. Lagman, T. Shimbo & M. Suthanthiran: Cyclosporine induces cancer progresion by a cell-autonomous mechanism. *Nature* 397, 530-534 (1999)
- 3. Rossi S. J., T. J. Schroeder, S. Hariharan & M. R. First: Prevention and management of the adverse effects associated with immunosuppressive therapy. *Drug Safety* 9, 104-131 (1993)
- 4. Wood K. J.: Induction of tolerance to cardiac allografts. *Cur Opin Cardiology* 11, 208-213 (1996)
- 5. Womer K. L., R. S. Lee, J. C. Madsen & M. H. Sayegh: Tolerance and chronic rejection. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 356, 727-738 (2001)
- 6. Owen R. D.: Immunogenetic consequences of vascular anastomoses between bovine twins. *Science* 102, 400-401 (1945)
- 7. Billingham R. E., L. Brent & P. B. Medawar: Actively acquired tolerance to foreign cells. *Nature* 172, 603-606 (1953)
- 8. Ildstad S. T. and D. H. Sachs: Reconstitution with syngeneic plus allogeneic or xenogeneic bone marrow leads to specific acceptance of allografts or xenografts. *Nature* 307(5947), 168-170 (1984)
- 9. Sykes M.: Mixed chimerism and transplant tolerance. *Immunity* 14, 417-424 (2001)
- 10. Ildstad S. T., S. M. Wren, J. A. Bluestone, S. A. Barbieri & D. H. Sachs: Characterization of mixed allogeneic chimeras. Immunocompetence, in vitro reactivity, and genetic specificity of tolerance. *J Exp Med* 162, 231-244 (1985)

- 11. Sachs D. H.: T-cell immunoincompetence in allogeneic chimerism. *N Engl J Med* 326, 1029-1029 (1992)
- 12. Sykes M. and D. H. Sachs: Mixed allogeneic chimerism as an approach to transplantation tolerance. *Immunol Today* 9, 23-27 (1988)
- 13. Sykes M.: Chimerism and central tolerance. *Curr Opin Immunol* 8, 694-703 (1996)
- 14. Kawai T., A. B. Cosimi, R. B. Colvin, J. Powelson, J. Eason, T. Kozlowski, M. Sykes, R. Monroy, M. Tanaka & D. H. Sachs: Mixed allogeneic chimerism and renal allograft tolerance in cynomolgus monkeys. *Transplantation* 59, 256-262 (1995)
- 15. Sykes M., F. Preffer, S. McAfee, S. L. Saidman, D. Weymouth, D. M. Andrews, C. Colby, R. Sackstein, D. H. Sachs & T. R. Spitzer: Mixed lymphohaemopoietic chimerism and graft-versus-lymphoma effects after non-myeloablative therapy and HLA-mismatched bone-marrow transplantation. *Lancet* 353, 1755-1759 (1999)
- 16. Sharabi Y., I. Aksentijevich, T. M. Sundt III, D. H. Sachs & M. Sykes: Specific tolerance induction across a xenogeneic barrier: production of mixed rat/mouse lymphohematopoietic chimeras using a nonlethal preparative regimen. *J Exp Med* 172, 195-202 (1990)
- 17. Sykes M., D. H. Sachs, A. W. Nienhuis, D. A. Pearson, A. D. Moulton & D. M. Bodine: Specific prolongation of skin graft survival following retroviral transduction of bone marrow with an allogeneic major histocompatibility complex gene. *Transplantation* 55, 197-202 (1993)
- 18. Fraser C. C., M. Sykes, R. Stanton-Lee, D. H. Sachs & C. LeGuern: Specific unresponsiveness to a retrovirally-transferred class I antigen is controlled through the helper pathway. *J Immunol* 154, 1587-1595 (1995)
- 19. Stanton-Mayfield R., H. Hayashi, T. Sawada, K. Bergen, C. LeGuern, M. Sykes, D. H. Sachs & J. Iacomini: The mechanism of specific prolongation of class I mismatched skin grafts induced by retroviral gene therapy. *Eur J Immunol* 27, 1177-1181 (1997)
- 20. Sachs D. H., J. S. Arn & T. H. Hansen: Two new recombinant H-2 haplotypes, one of which juxtaposes Kb and Ik alleles. *J Immunol* 123, 1965-1969 (1979)
- 21. Sawada T., Y. Wu, D. H. Sachs & J. Iacomini: CD4+ T cells are able to reject class I disparate allografts. *Transplantation* 64, 335-340 (1997)
- 22. Benichou G., P. A. Takizawa, C. A. Olson, M. McMillan & E. E. Sercarz: Donor major histocompatibility complex (MHC) peptides are presented by recipient MHC molecules during graft rejection. *J Exp Med* 175, 305-308 (1992)
- 23. Benichou G., E. Fedoseyeva, P. V. Lehmann, C. A. Olson, H. M. Geysen, M. McMillan & E. E. Sercarz: Limited T cell response to donor MHC peptides during allograft rejection. *J Immunol* 153, 938-945 (1994)
- 24. Gould D. and H. Auchincloss Jr.: Direct and indirect recognition: the role of MHC antigens in graft rejection. *Immunol Today* 20, 77-82 (1999)
- 25. Klein J.: Natural history of the major histocompatibility complex. John Wiley and Sons, NY (1986)
- 26. Hansen T. H. and D. H. Sachs: The major histocompatibility complex. In: Fundamental Immunology. Eds: Paul, W.E., Raven Press, NY. 2, 445-487 (1989)
- 27. Wong W., P. J. Morris & K. J. Wood: Syngeneic bone marrow expressing a single donor class I MHC molecule

- permits acceptance of a fully allogeneic cardiac allograft. *Transplantation* 62, 1462-1468 (1996)
- 28. Bushell A., T. C. Pearson, P. J. Morris & K. J. Wood: Donor-recipient microchimerism is not required for tolerance induction following recipient pretreatment with donor-specific transfusion and anti-CD4 antibody. *Transplantation* 59, 1367-1371 (1995)
- 29. Schumacher I. K., M. H. Newberg, J. D. Jackson, J. M. Hammel, R. J. Rubocki, V. H. Engelhard & I. J. Fox: Use of gene therapy to suppress the antigen-specific immune responses in mice to an HLA antigen. *Transplantation* 62, 831-836 (1996)
- 30. Cobbold S. and H. Waldmann: Infectious tolerance. *Curr Opin Immunol* 10, 518-524 (1998)
- 31. Fry J. W., P. J. Morris & K. J. Wood: Adenoviral transfer of a single donor-specific MHC class I gene to recipient bone marrow cells can induce specific immunological unresponsiveness in vivo. *Gene Ther* 9, 220-226 (2002)
- 32. Emery D. W., T. Sablinski, H. Shimada, S. Germana, P. Gianello, A. Foley, S. Shulman, S. Arn, J. Fishman, T. Lorf, V. Nickeleit, R. B. Colvin, D. H. Sachs & C. LeGuern: Expression of an allogeneic MHC DRB transgene, through retroviral transduction of bone marrow, induces specific reduction of alloreactivity. *Transplantation* 64, 1414-1423 (1997)
- 33. Sonntag K. C., D. W. Emery, A. Yasumoto, G. Haller, S. Germana, T. Sablinski, A. Shimizu, K. Yamada, H. Shimada, S. Arn, D. H. Sachs & C. LeGuern: Tolerance to solid organ transplants through transfer of MHC class II genes. *J Clin Invest* 107, 65-71 (2001)
- 34. Heim D. A., Y. Hanazono, N. Giri, T. Wu, R. Childs, S. E. Sellers, L. Muul, B. A. Agricola, M. E. Metzger, R. E. Donahue, J. F. Tisdale & C. E. Dunbar: Introduction of a xenogeneic gene via hematopoietic stem cells leads to specific tolerance in a rhesus monkey model. *Molecular Therapy* 1, 533-544 (2000)
- 35. Ierino F. L., S. Gojo, P. T. Banerjee, M. Giovino, Y. Xu, J. Gere, C. Kaynor, M. Awwad, R. Monroy, J. Rembert, T. Hatch, A. Foley, T. Kozlowski, K. Yamada, F. A. Neethling, J. Fishman, M. Bailin, T. R. Spitzer, D. K. Cooper, A. B. Cosimi, C. LeGuern & D. H. Sachs: Transfer of swine major histocompatibility complex class II genes into autologous bone marrow cells of baboons for the induction of tolerance across xenogeneic barriers. *Transplantation* 67, 1119-1128 (1999)
- 36. Ally B. A., T. S. Hawley, K. J. McKall-Faienza, T. M. Kundig, S. U. Oehen, H. Pircher, R. G. Hawley & P. S. Ohashi: Prevention of autoimmune disease by retroviral-mediated gene therapy. *J Immunol* 155, 5404-5408 (1995)
- 37. El-Amine M., M. E. F. Melo & D. W. Scott: Gene therapy for tolerance and Autoimmunity: Soon to be fulfuilled promises? *Clinical Immunology* 99, 1-6 (2001)
- 38. Bagley J., Y. Wu, D. H. Sachs & J. Iacomini: Defining the requirements for peptide recognition in gene therapy induced T cell tolerance. *J Immunol* 165, 4842-4847 (2000)
- 39. Khan A., Y. Tomita & M. Sykes: Thymic dependence of loss of tolerance in mixed allogeneic bone marrow chimeras after depletion of donor antigen. Peripheral mechanisms do not contribute to maintenance of tolerance. *Transplantation* 62, 380-387 (1996)
- 40. Bagley J., C. Tian, D. H. Sachs & J. Iacomini: Induction of T cell tolerance to a MHC class I alloantigen by gene therapy. *Blood* In Press, (2002)

- 41. Sachs D. H.: The pig as a potential xenograft donor. *Path Biol* 42, 217-219 (1994)
- 42. Cooper D. K. C., Y. Ye, L. L. Rolf & N. Zuhdi: The pig as potential organ donor for man. 1, 481-500 (1991)
- 43. Good A. H., D. K. C. Cooper, A. J. Malcolm, R. M. Ippolito, E. Koren, F. A. Neethling, Y. Ye, N. Zuhdi & L. R. Lamontagne: Identification of carbohydrate structures that bind human antiporcine antibodies: Implications for discordant xenografting in humans. *Transplant Proc* 24, 559-562 (1992)
- 44. Oriol R., Y. Ye, E. Koren & D. K. Cooper: Carbohydrate antigens of pig tissues reacting with human natural antibodies as potential targets for hyperacute vascular rejection in pig-to-man organ xenotransplantation. *Transplantation* 56, 1433-1442 (1993)
- 45. Sandrin M. S., H. A. Vaughan, P. L. Dabkowski & I. F. McKenzie: Anti-pig IgM antibodies in human serum react predominantly with Gal(alpha 1-3)Gal epitopes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, 11391-11395 (1993)
- 46. Cooper D. K. C., E. Koren & R. Oriol: Oligosaccharides and discordant xenotransplantation. *Immunol Rev* 141, 31-58 (1994)
- 47. Sandrin M. S. and I. F. McKenzie: Galalpha (1,3)Gal, the major xenoantigen(s) recognised in pigs by human natural antibodies. *Immunol Rev* 141, 169-190 (1994)
- 48. Galili U.: Interaction of the natural anti-Gal antibody with alpha- galactosyl epitopes: a major obstacle for xenotransplantation in humans. *Immunol Today* 14, 480-482 (1993)
- 49. Bracy J. L., N. Cretin, D. K. C. Cooper & J. Iacomini: Xenoreactive natural antibodies. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 56, 1001-1007 (1999)
- 50. Thall A. D., P. Maly & J. B. Lowe: Oocyte Gal alpha 1,3Gal epitopes implicated in sperm adhesion to the zona pellucida glycoprotein ZP3 are not required for fertilization in the mouse. *J Biol Chem* 270, 21437-21440 (1995)
- 51. Tearle R. G., M. J. Tange, Z. L. Zannettino, M. Katerelos, T. A. Shinkel, B. J. Van Denderen, A. J. Lonie, I. Lyons, M. B. Nottle, T. Cox, C. Becker, A. M. Peura, P. L. Wigley, R. J. Crawford, A. J. Robins, M. J. Pearse & A. J. d'Apice: The alpha-1,3-galactosyltransferase knockout mouse. Implications for xenotransplantation. *Transplantation* 61, 13-19 (1996)
- 52. Yang Y.-G., E. deGoma, H. Ohdan, J. L. Bracy, Y. Xu, J. Iacomini, A. D. Thall & M. Sykes: Tolerization of anti-Galalpha1-3Gal natural antibody-forming B cells by induction of mixed chimerism. *J Exp Med* 187, 1335-1342 (1998)
- 53. Kozlowski T., A. Shimizu, D. Lambrigts, K. Yamada, Y. Fuchimoto, R. Glaser, R. Monroy, Y. Xu, M. Awwad, R. B. Colvin, A. B. Cosimi, S. C. Robson, J. Fishman, T. R. Spitzer, D. K. C. Cooper & D. H. Sachs: Porcine kidney and heart transplantation in baboons undergoing a tolerance induction regimen and antibody adsorption. *Transplantation* 67, 18-30 (1999)
- 54. Buhler L., M. Awwad, S. Treter, Q. Chang, M. Basker, I. P. Alwayn, K. Teranishi, T. Ericsson, K. Moran, D. Harper, B. Kurilla-Mahon, C. A. Huang, R. Sackstein, M. Sykes, M. E. White-Scharf, D. H. Sachs, J. D. Down & D. K. Cooper: Pig hematopoietic cell chimerism in baboons conditioned with a nonmyeloablative regimen and CD154 blockade. *Transplantation* 73, 12-22 (2002)

- 55. Bracy J. L., D. H. Sachs & J. Iacomini: Inhibition of xenoreactive natural antibody production by retroviral gene therapy. *Science* 281, 1845-1847 (1998)
- 56. Bracy J. L. and J. Iacomini: Induction of B cell tolerance by retroviral gene therapy. *Blood* 96, 3008-3015 (2000)
- 57. Bracy J. L., C. M. Chase, P. S. Russell, S. Mauiyyedi, R. B. Colvin & J. Iacomini: Induction of molecular chimerism by gene therapy prevents antibody mediated heart transplant rejection. *Gene Therapy* 8, 1738-1744 (2001)
- 58. Zambidis E. T., A. Kurup & D. W. Scott: Genetically transferred central and peripheral immune tolerance via retroviral-mediated expression of immunoglobulin epitopes in hematopoietic progenitors or peripheral B lymphocytes. *Mol Med* 3, 212-224 (1997)
- 59. Kang Y., M. Melo, E. Deng, R. Tisch, M. El-Amine & D. W. Scott: Induction of hyporesponsiveness to intact foreign proteins via retroviral-mediated gene expression: The IgG scaffold is important for induction and maintenance of immune hyporesponsiveness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 8609-8614 (1999)
- 60. Fuchs E. J. and P. Matzinger: B cells turn off virgin but not memory T cells. *Science* 258, 1156-1159 (1992)
- 61. Emery D. W., R. G. Andrews & T. Papayannopoulou: Differences among nonhuman primates in susceptibility to bone marrow progenitor transduction with retrovirus vectors. *Gene Ther* 7, 359-367 (2000)

**Key Words:** Gene Therapy, Tolerance, Transplantation, T cells, B cells, Review

Send correspondence to: John Iacomini, Ph.D., Transplantation Biology Research Center, Massachusetts General Hospital, 149-5210, 13th St., Boston, MA 02129 USA, Tel: 617-724-9846, Fax: 617-724-9218, E-mail: john.iacomini@tbrc.mgh.harvard.edu